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New Jersey Schools Insurance Group 

6000 Midlantic Drive, Suite 300 North 
Mount Laurel, New Jersey 08054 

www.njsig.org 
 

    

  

Request for proposals: I-2020-0001 
 
 

Questions regarding the RFP and Answers 

May 1, 2020 

 

Question 1:  I wanted to see if somebody at your organization had time for a few 
questions that I have prior to putting together a document for you. 

 
Answer: NJSIG will only accept questions and inquiries from potential proposers 

electronically via its website. Although interviews may take place 
subsequent to the submission of all proposals, each proposal must be 
comprehensive and complete on its face.  

 
Question 2:  Are staffing firms located in Texas allowed to bid on this RFP? 

 
Answer:  Yes, there is nothing prohibiting firms outside of New Jersey from bidding 

on this RFP, however all firms must submit a copy of the proposer’s 
business registration certificate (or interim registration) from the New 
Jersey Division of Revenue with the proposal. Failure to do so may be 
cause for rejection of the proposal. The requirement is a precondition to 
entering into a NJSIG contract. 

 

http://www.njsig.org/
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Question 3:  Are the insurance requirements listed in the solicitation required with the 
proposal submission or can they be provided at time of award/successful 
offer? 

 
Answer: If a proposer cannot present evidence of current insurance in the form of 

a Certificate of Insurance at the time the proposal is submitted, the 
proposer should provide a letter from its insurance broker that the specific 
Professional Liability Insurance required by the RFP can be obtained.  

 
Question 4:  On page 11 of 65 in the RFP document, under mandatory contents of 

proposals - this is what is written: 
 
The proposal should be submitted in one volume and that volume divided 
into six (6) sections with tabs (separators), and the content of the material 
located behind each tab, as 
follows: 
Section 1 &ndash; Error! Reference source not found. (Section Error! 
Reference source not found.) 
 
Section 2 &ndash; Error! Reference source not found. (Section Error! 
Reference source not found.) 
 
Section 3 &ndash; Error! Reference source not found. (Section Error! 
Reference source not found.) 
 
Section 4 &ndash; Error! Reference source not found. (Section Error! 
Reference source not found.) 
 
Section 5 &ndash; Error! Reference source not found. (Section Error! 
Reference source not found.) 
 
Section 6 &ndash; Error! Reference source not  found. (Section Error!    
Reference 
source not found.) 
 
Can you please let me know the details for each of the 6 sections?   
 

Answer:  Section 2.4 of the RFP should read as follows:  
 

2.4 Mandatory contents of proposal 
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The proposal should be submitted in one volume and that volume divided 
into six (6) sections with tabs (separators), and the content of the material 
located behind each tab, as follows: 
 
Section 1 – Fee proposal (Section 2.4.1) 

 
Section 2 – Executive summary (Section 2.5.1) 

 
Section 3 – General Information (Section 2.5.2) 

 
Section 4 – Organization profile and experience (Section 2.5.3) 

 
Section 5 – Qualifications and Experience (Section 2.5.4) 

 
Section 6 – Forms (Section 2.5.5) 

 
Question 5:  Is NJ mandatory paid sick leave billable to NJ SIG? 

 
Answer:  Under the New Jersey Earned Sick Leave Law, the temporary help service 

firm is the employer and is solely responsible for compliance with all of 
the provisions of the law relative to the temporary employee. More 
information from the New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce 
Development is available here:  
https://nj.gov/labor/wagehour/content/NJ_Earned_Sick_Leave.html.  
 

Question 6:  Given the current pandemic, will we still be required to have a hard copy 
delivered to your office or will the submittal be electronic only? 

 
Answer: Yes. Per the Division of Local Government Services, Local Finance 

Notice 2020-10, available here: 
https://www.nj.gov/dca/divisions/dlgs/lfns/20/2020-10.pdf, 
proposers are encouraged to submit the physical copy of proposals via 
“certified mail or overnight delivery, which not only avoids the need for 
hand delivery but also confirms the delivery date.” 

 
Question 7:  In regard to section 2.4.1: 2.4.1   Fee proposal 

 
A firm fee proposal based on a term of no more than two years (twenty-
four months), with an option for two one year (twelve months) 
extensions. Temporary Staffing: Contractor’s fee for a temporary staffing 

https://nj.gov/labor/wagehour/content/NJ_Earned_Sick_Leave.html
https://www.nj.gov/dca/divisions/dlgs/lfns/20/2020-10.pdf
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placements shall be set forth in the Position Search Request in the form 
of Schedule A[.] 
 
Do we literally cut and paste the rate charts on pages 12 and 13 onto 
Schedule A or just submit pages 12 and 13 as the rate proposal? 
 

Answer:  For purposes of accurate proposal comparison, and ease of 
administration, NJSIG requires that all fee proposals be stated using the 
rate charts provided in the RFP at pages 12 and 13, for: Temporary 
Staffing Percentage Factor Markup (Standard); Temporary Staffing 
Percentage Factor Markup (Candidate Referred by NJSIG); and 
Temporary Staffing Direct Hire Percentage Fee based on hours worked. 

 
Question 8:  We would like to ask what the current rates are for the incumbent vendor 

performing these services. 
 

Answer:  Attached hereto are the executed contracts showing rate information for 
the three incumbent vendors for A-2018-0001. 

 

Question 9:  Pg. 5, Section 1.5 - Are respondents required to be able to provide 
positions in all categories (claims, accounting, information technology, 
and underwriting) in order to be deemed responsive? 

 
Answer: Respondents must be able to provide positions in at least one of the 

categories (claims, accounting, information technology, and underwriting) 
in order to be deemed responsive; however, an inability to provide 
positions in all categories may adversely affect the proposal’s evaluation. 

 
Question 10:  Pg. 5, Section 1.5 - Will the NJSIG provide detailed job descriptions 

for the potential positions for this contract? 
 

Answer:  Yes. 
 
Question 11:  Pg. 12, Section 2.4.1 - With respect to Affordable Care Act (ACA) 

costs, would the NJSIG prefer these charges as a separate line item on the 
invoices, or instead incorporated directly into each respondent’s proposed 
rates? 
 

Answer:  All Affordable Care Act (ACA) costs should be incorporated into the 
proposer’s proposed rates. 
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Question 12:  Exhibit 7.8, Pg. 3, Section 4 - What specific background checks and/or 
drug screens are required of the temporary staff? Is Finger Printing and 
Drug Testing required? 

 
Answer: Finger printing and drug testing of temporary staffing candidates is not 

required; however, a criminal background check is preferred. All 
proposers must also be able to verify the qualifications, credentials, and 
prior work history of each temporary staffing candidate.  

 
Question 13:  Exhibit 7.8, Pg. 3, Section 4 - To ensure FCRA compliance, it is 

our company’s policy to provide clients with an attestation of completion 
of background check pursuant to client’s requirements, but not the actual 
results. Will the NJSIG accept letters of attestation in lieu of actual 
background check results? 
 

Answer:  Yes. 
 
Question 14:  Will respondents be disqualified or adversely impacted during the 

evaluation process if they were to submit exceptions to the NJSIG? 
 

Answer:  A proposal taking exception to an item or items in the RFP may render 
the proposal non-responsive, depending on the nature of the exception(s). 
Proposals may be rejected if they are determined to be non-responsive. 

 

Question 15:  If government-mandated costs or expenses are enacted during the 
contract term, will respondents be allowed to request rate increases to 
cover these higher rates? 
 

Answer: Proposers may include language to this effect in their proposals for 
consideration by NJSIG as part of the evaluation process.  

 
Question 16:  Can you please provide the current markup percentages for all 

incumbents? 
 

Answer:  Attached hereto are the executed contracts showing rate information for 
the three incumbent vendors for A-2018-0001. 
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Question 17:  What was the [NJSIG’s] spend on Staffing Services in 2019 under the 
previous contract? 

 
Answer: See below, answer to question eighteen. 
 
Question 18:  What was the breakdown of the NJSIG’s spend of Temporary 

Staffing and Direct Hire Services in 2019 under the previous contract? 
 

Answer:  NJSIG paid a total of $50,887 for temporary staffing services in the 
2018/2019 fiscal year and a total of $28,464 for the 2019/2020 fiscal year 
to date. 

 
Question 19:  What is the anticipated annual and total spend for this contract? 

 
Answer:  NJSIG’s current estimated budgeted amount for temporary staffing 

services for 2020/2021 is $46,000. NJSIG does not separately budget for 
direct hire services. 

 
Question 20:            Can NJSIG provide the anticipated overall spend for this 

opportunity? 
 

Answer: See above, answer to question nineteen.  
 
Question 21:  Can NJSIG provide a breakdown of spend by discipline and 

location? 
 

Answer:  Historically, temporary staffing services have been focused on the IT and 
Underwriting Departments, with a focus on clerical staff. All temporary 
staffing and direct hire services are for NJSIG’s Mount Laurel location.  

 
Question 22:  How many vendors does NJSIG envision choosing? 

 
Answer:  Three vendors. 
 
Question 23:  Will NJSIG provide detailed job descriptions for each in-scope role? 

 
Answer: See above, answer to question ten. 
 
Question 24:  Is NJSIG willing to provide a list of current pay rates or rate ranges 

for in-scope roles? 
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Answer:  NJSIG’s most recent temporary workers have been paid approximately 
$18 per hour. 

 
Question 25:  Please provide an estimated total hours worked by contingent 

workers for the previous year, along with an estimate for the current year. 
 

Answer:  It is unclear how many hours of temporary staffing services NJSIG will 
require in 2020. However, for NJSIG’s current estimated budgeted 
amount for temporary staffing services for 2020/2021 see above, answer 
to question nineteen.  

 
Question 26:  What are your average time-to-fill rates? Are there any positions which 

tend to be challenging to fill? 
 

Answer: Open positions have historically been filled relatively quickly, although 
there have been some challenges finding successful candidates for more 
specialized open positions in the IT, Underwriting and Accounting 
Departments. 

 
Question 27:  What is the average length of assignment? 

 
Answer:  The length of assignment varies by department and need, but typically is 

several months.  
 
Question 28:  Will redlines/exceptions lists to the agreement be accepted at this 

time? 
 

Answer:  See above, answer to question fourteen. 
 
Question 29:  Could NJSIG clarify what types of background/drug screens are 

required? 
 

Answer: See above, answer to question twelve. 
 
Question 30:  Is there a NJSIG-specific vendor used for background/drug 

testing, or can the vendor utilize its own identified processes? If there is a 
specific vendor, what is the cost per test? 
 

Answer:  No; see above, answer to question twelve. 
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Question 31:  Does NJSIG expect vendor to provide timecard management or 
time clocks or does NJSIG intend to leverage an existing internal time 
management process?  
 

Answer:  The successful proposer(s) will be responsible for handling all payroll 
functions related to temporary staffing including weekly timecard 
management. 

 
Question 32:  What is NJSIG’s expected invoicing schedule (weekly, bi-weekly, 

monthly)? 
 

Answer:  It is anticipated that the successful proposer(s) will invoice NJSIG weekly 
for temporary staffing. The fee will be payable thirty (30) days after the 
presentation of an invoice.  

 
Question 33:  Should funding for background checks be included in our mark-up 

or billed back separately? 
 

Answer:  All costs for background checks should be incorporated into the 
proposer’s proposed rates. 

 
Question 34:  Does NJSIG have mandatory PTO for contingent labor? If so, 

what is the expectation and does NJSIG want this billed separately or 
factored into the markup/bill rate? 
 

Answer:  No; however, all proposers must comply with all applicable federal and 
state law governing paid time off in the State of New Jersey. 

 
 
Question 35:  Will NJSIG be providing all equipment and work spaces needed 

for office-based positions? 
 

Answer:  Yes. 
 
Question 36:  Can NJSIG confirm that per 2.1, one copy of our response must 

be submitted by mail? 
 

Answer:  Proposers shall submit only one (1) paper copy of their proposal. 
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Question 37:  Should funding for background checks be included in our mark-up 
or billed back separately? 
 

Answer:  See above, response to question thirty-four. 
 
Question 38:  Are we required to include any documentation if we are not 

utilizing subcontractors in our recruitment process? 
 

Answer:  If the proposer intends to utilize a subcontractor, the Subcontractor 
Utilization form must be completed and submitted with the proposal. A 
Subcontractor Utilization form is attached to the RFP. 

 
Question 39:  Is there any incumbent for this contract or is this for a new 

contract? If yes, can you please let us know the name of incumbent, their 
hourly rate and historical spend? 
 

Answer:  Attached hereto are the executed incumbent contracts for A-2018-0001. 
All proposers must comply with all applicable federal and state law 
governing paid time off in the State of New Jersey for the three incumbent 
vendors. For hourly rate, see above, answer to question twenty-four. For 
historical spend, see above, answer to question eighteen. 

 
Question 40:  Is budget allocated for this contract? If yes, can you please let us 

know the same? 
 

Answer:  See above, answer to question twenty. 
 
Question 41:  Section 2.4 Mandatory contents of proposal; of the RFP document 

doesn’t provide any information on the content of proposal. Instead, it 
displays Error! Reference source not found. (Section Error! Reference 
source not found.). Can you please let us know what should be included 
in the proposal? 
 

Answer:  See above, answer to question four. 
 
Question 42:  Can we submit our business registration certificate from the 

Division of Revenue after the notification of award? 
 

Answer:  Failure to submit a copy of the proposer’s business registration certificate 
(or interim registration) from the Division of Revenue with the proposal 
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may be cause for rejection of the proposal. The requirement is a 
precondition to entering into a NJSIG contract. 

 
Question 43:  Will any Addendums, Questions to the answers or any RFP 

Communication be communicated on RFP Mart in addition to the NJSIG 
website? 
 

Answer:  NJSIG does not use RFP Mart. NJSIG will accept questions and inquiries 
from all potential proposers electronically via its website. Answers to 
questions submitted regarding the RFP, if any, will be posted on the 
NJSIG website on the date on the RFP cover sheet. 

 
Question 44:  In Section 2.4 it says “Mandatory contents of proposal The 

proposal should be submitted in one volume and that volume divided into 
six (6) sections with tabs (separators), and the content of the material 
located behind each tab, as follows” 
 
Section 1 – Error! Reference source not found. (Section Error! eference 
source not found.)  
Section 2 – Error! Reference source not found. (Section Error! Reference 
source not found.)  
Section 3 – Error! Reference source not found. (Section Error! Reference 
source not found.)  
Section 4 – Error! Reference source not found. (Section Error! Reference 
source not found.)  
Section 5 – Error! Reference source not found. (Section Error! Reference 
source not found.) 
 
Can you please let us know the name of each section in yellow as marked 
above where it says “Error | Reference source not found” 
 

Answer:  See above, answer to question four. 
 
Question 45:  In Section 2.5.2 it mentions that we must provide copies of audited 

financial statements or other evidence of financial stability of your 
organization for the past three (3) years. If we do not have audited 
statements, can we provide accountants prepared financial statements 
and/or Dun & Bradstreet Financial Ratings and Credit report? 
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Answer:  If audited financial statements are unavailable, the proposers must provide 
some other evidence of the financial stability of their organization for the 
past three (3) years.  

 
Question 46:  In Section 1.5 of the RFP it says “If the Primary Contractor fails to 

provide said personnel within the specified time period, NJSIG can then 
proceed to the Secondary Contractor. Secondary Contractor must provide 
NJSIG with the requested personnel within one (1) week from either a 
written, fax or e-mail request. If the Secondary Contractor fails to provide 
said personnel within the specified time period, NJSIG can then proceed 
to the Tertiary Contractor.” How many submissions per Position Search 
Request are expected? 
 

Answer:  At a minimum, NJSIG expects at least one qualified candidate per position 
search request from each Contractor; however, the specific number of 
qualified candidate submissions is left to the discretion of the proposers 
and will likely depend on the specific position. 

 
Question 47:  Are there any other Service Level Agreements established such as 

how many submissions per Position Search Request? How many qualified 
candidates are preferred for each Position Search Request? 
 

Answer:  At a minimum, NJSIG expects at least one qualified candidate per position 
search request; however, the specific number of qualified candidate 
submissions is left to the discretion of the proposers and will likely depend 
on the specific position. 

 
Question 48:  What is the general interview process at NJSIG? What types of 

interviews are connected and generally how many rounds for each type of 
hire? 
 

Answer:  Typically, NJSIG conducts an initial phone interview and will then 
conduct one or two in-person interviews, depending on the position to be 
filled. 

 
Question 49:  Do you only consider candidates from the NJ area or are you open 

to NY & Pennsylvania? 
 

Answer:  The New Jersey First Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14-7, requires all employees of 
NJSIG to reside in the State of New Jersey unless otherwise exempted 
under the law. However, those individuals who are employees of 
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temporary agencies under contract with NJSIG are not subject to the New 
Jersey First Act.   

 
Question 50:  Can you provide some pointers on what worked well with the 

current service provider and highlight some areas of improvement that 
could have added a higher service level for NJSIG? 
 

Answer:  No. 
 
Question 51:  How many employees were on boarded via staffing agencies in 

2019 and 2018? What was the approximate spend? 
 

Answer:  Approximately five temporary workers for 2018 and 2019. See above, 
answer to question eighteen.  

 
Question 52:  In terms of pre-employment checks can we assume that we have to 

do the following only:  
 
a. Conduct a criminal back background check 
b. Social Security Traces 
 

Answer:  See above, answer to question twelve. 
 
Question 53:  For reference checks will be using a 3rd party? [Past employment 

references from two employers during the last seven years] 
 

Answer:  See above, answers to questions twelve and thirty-one. 
 
Question 54:  Will submission of candidates be a manual process or via email? 

 
Answer:  Email is acceptable. 
 
Question 55:  Does NJSIG pay for any sick leaves or holidays or provide any 

medical benefits to temporary employees? 
 
Answer:  All proposers must comply with all applicable federal and state law 

governing paid time off in the State of New Jersey. NJSIG does not 
provide temporary workers with paid vacation or holidays or medical 
benefits. Furthermore, temporary help service firms are solely responsible 
for compliance with all of the provisions of the New Jersey Earned Sick 
Leave Law relative to temporary workers. More information from the 
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New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development is 
available here:  
https://nj.gov/labor/wagehour/content/NJ_Earned_Sick_Leave.html.  

 
Question 56:  Is the timesheet process a weekly process at NJSIG? Is this a 

manual process? 
 

Answer:  The successful proposer(s) will be responsible for handling all payroll 
functions related to temporary staffing, including weekly timecard 
management.  

 
Question 57:  In addition to technical and [behavioral] screening is it expected 

that we perform 3rd party aptitude or skills testing? 
 

Answer:  No. 
 
Question 58:  [W]e need to provide a general Certificate of Insurance in the RFP 

response? 
 

Answer:  If a proposer cannot present evidence of current insurance in the form of 
a Certificate of Insurance at the time the proposal is submitted, the 
proposer should provide a letter from its insurance broker that the specific 
Professional Liability Insurance required by the RFP can be obtained.  

 
Question 59:  In the professional contract it says “Contractor agrees that it will 

not submit a candidate without informing the potential candidate of the 
opportunity with NJSIG and receiving consent from the potential 
candidate to have his/her resume sent to NJSI.” Can this be an oral 
conversation with the candidate or do we need an email/written 
documentation and acknowledgement? 
 

Answer:  Either is acceptable. 
 
Question 60:  I would really appreciate it if you could help me with the incumbent 

proposals of this RFP and also, if you could please check page 11 - Section 
2.4 -Mandatory contents of proposal (attached). It's content is missing 
with errors all across the section. We would like to receive an updated 
RFP with all the content in place. 
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Answer:  Attached hereto are the executed contracts showing rate information for 
the three incumbent vendors for A-2018-0001. As to RFP Section 2.4 - 
Mandatory contents of proposal, see above, answer to question four.  
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